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Two Churches in One

St Mary's Square, where the main market was held
had ot always been an open space. It was once
the site of another church, St Peter-de-Dunstable,
thoughtto be of Norman origin but possibly as old as
StMary’s itsell. Foundations of the old walls have
been found juting right out into the main road, so
that together the two churches must have formed a
narrow gate-like entrance into the inner part of
souther Bedford. The two parishes were neatly
separated by the main road. The west side belonged
10 St Peter's parish and the east side belonged to St
Mary's. From the 14005 the parishes were combined.
The churches shared the same books, omaments
and rector - who had to carry everything from one
place to the other! This led to arguments, and in the
endthe expense of maintaining two churches became
100 much for parishioners. In 1545, St Peters was
demlished. Its stones were used to repar the bridge
and roads, and to construct the north aisle of St
Mary’s Church - now literally two churches i one.

Adventures of a Stone Font

The Norman font of St Peter's was taken away and
used for many years as a horse trough in the yard of
the Angel Inn in Harpur Street. Rescued from this
cruel fate, it now stands in the west end of St Mary’s.
Most of the original carvings on the comers have long
since been worn away, but the old stone plug stil
survives. The crudely carved cross s almost certainly
a later addition,

The Old Well

The area around the church is rich in history, though much is
hidden away out of sight. This ancient well was discovered during
buiding work in the celar of St Mary's Post Office. The pottery
found inside is dated to the 13th century. The Baker family have
been running the post office since the 19205, and the shop has
been in family hands since 1869. That means they have kept it
going for 130 years ~a considerable achievement, but stil less
than one eighth o the litetime of the church.

Let to right: the stone font from St Peter-de-Dunstable Church;
the crossed keys, symbol of St Peter; the lly, symbol of St. Mary
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The interior as it would have looked in the last days.
a parish church

“The oldest surviving parts of the church are the tower
and the south transept, dating 10 the 10th or 11th
century. These are on ty different alignment
o the @ buiding, and some people
have suggested that the tower was buil on

of an earfier chancel ~ of which no trace remains. It
seems more likely, however, that the church has
always had the basic cruciform design tha it retains
today. The 12th-century nave and the 1dth-century
chancel probably replaced earler, smaller v

which would have been the same width as the towor.
Ther where the sacristy is
now. The battiements of the tower and gargoyles
were added n the 15th century. Many of the windows
were enlarged or inserted at this time. The north aisio
was built n the 16th century, though ater rebuilt by
the Victorians. The sacristy, south aisle and vestry
were constructed in the 19th century.

was a medieval chay

Above: the old south door
discoverod during excavations
in 1989

Right: builders moving stones,
from a medioval manuscript

Where the stones came from.

s A
Y\Q Sl |

St Mary's Church s buit mainly of local limestone. Look
closaly at the stones and you can see many tiny fossilshells
—laid down in the seabed at the time of the dinosaurs, when
Bedfordshire was covered by a shallow sea. It was dug
out from quarries near Pavenham, and carried down the
fiver on a fltila of rafts. Other kinds of stone are ironstone
from Northamptonshire, clunch from the Totternhoe
quarries, sandstone from the Greensand Ridge, and the
occasional block of granite.
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The Tower

“This drawing shows the west face of the tower.
I the upper stage are two blocked-in windows
dating from late Saxon times. Theso indicate
that more or less the whole of the tower s early
in date. Bolow thesa is the slightly lator two-
light window set within a recessed arch, which
is of Norman workmanship. The window above
and the batiements are of 15th-century date.
Asimilar sequence can be made out on allfour
faces of the tower. Nobody knows what the
top of the tower originally looked fike but it may
have once had a pyramidal tmber roof, possibly
destroyed by fire. Traces of burning have
recently been found at the top of the tower.

“The lower partof the tower s shown as viewed
from insid the nave. Notice the large quoins
o comerstones that represent the sides of the.
tower. It is likely that the nave was originally
the same width as the tower but was widened
atan early date. A lato Saxon window can be
seen above the crossing arch.

have been an exterior window, but now looks
out into the nave from a chamber above the
crossing.

it may once

Three of the four medieval

| cargoyies at the top of the
towor were 50 badly wor by
the wind and rain they had o
be taken down in 1990.
Replacements were expertly
carved by stonemason
Gwynn Watkins, working
from surviving detail and
other medieval carvings.

15th-century | o

battiement

{ 15th:
| century
1 window

= =
J e 2 > _|late Saxon
- window
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The South Transept

late Saxon
window

blocked Norman

Detail of the medieval wail, pnmhm

blocked 16th-
century door
and platform
of former
staircase.

The South Transept
Major discoveries were made during restoration
of the south transept in 1959. On removal of
plaster, a pair of late Saxon round-headed
windows were found facing each other in the
east and west walls. These may have been
placed so high up to prevent draughts, with only
a sheet of thinly stretched hide keeping out

weather. The peck-marks of axes used
shape the stones are st visible. One of th
windows had

n blocked up in Norman times
when a much larger splayed s
inserted below. This in turn

blocked up i the 14 cent
was enlarged.

indow v

partially
y when the chancel

Medieval Wall Paintings
These murals were painted inside the Norman
window when it was partially blocked in during
the 141h century. Clearly visiblo are the towers
and rooftops of a walled city ~ perhaps the holy
city of Jerusalem. When first uncovered, there
were faint traces of a head worked in red, with
black flames emanating from it. All traces of
a head have now disappeared

believe that an upside-down foot of &
faling from the buikdings is depicted, and
the painting as a whole ilustrates the bibical
story of Jezebel. Others claim to be able to
see a knight on horseback riding through the
gate of the city. Whatever the corre
interpretation, the painting reminds us of how
colourtul the church interior must once have
been. Most of the walls would have been
painted with pictures of saiis or biblical scenes.
There would also have been rich embroideries
and other hangings. These were all largely
destroyed or stolen during the Reformation in
the 161 century.
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The Last of the
Vikings?

This corbel head was found
‘amongst the rubble blocking of the
Norman window. It must once
have formed part of the structure
of the church, looking down upon
the congregation from above. The
head has a moustache and a long
mane of flowing hair, with traces
of red paintvisile. It s carved out
of Caen stone from France and is
thought to date from the 12th
century, although some have
argued for an earlier date. It
certainly looks like a Viking, and
there are similaities with heads
carved in wood on wagons and
prows of Viking longships. The
head is on display in Bedford
Museum.

Traces of a Medieval Chapel

Carved stones in the outer wall of the sacristy
may be remnants of the medieval chapel that it
replaced. The chapel was largely rebuiltas the
sacristy in the 19th century, but many of the
stones were re-used and existing monuments
retained. It must have been a very omate part
of the church. In the post-medieval period it
was used as a mortuary chapel. Lok carefully
and you will see a carved bird and at least three
carved hearts on the external wall

Bird stone and one of
‘several heart stones
on the outside of the
sacristy

This 14th-century C
tile was part of

the original floor

of the chapel, a

oot below the

present sacristy ¢
fioor -

These shields are to be
found on bosses at the top
of columns in the nave
arcade. They tellus that St
Mary's was at various times
within the diocese of
Lincoln, Ely and St Albans.
Other shields depict the fily
of St Mary, the eagle and
castle of Bedford Borough,
and the ams of important
local familis.
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MONUMENTS
AND
CHARACTERS

The sailor

riptions on gravestones and monuments often give us only.
the basic outine of a person’s ffe, and the really important
stories may remain untold. Here are just a few examples.

The Highwayman?

On the surface, John Bromsall appears to have been a
respectable citizen of Bedford — a Justice of the Peace, no
less. But don't believe all you read! There is a dark tale about
his nighty actvites that is not recorded on the memorial tablet
on the south wall of the chancel. The story goes that he
supplemented his income by working as a highwayman. One
ight, he was pursued by constables of the law all the way to
his house on the west side of St Mary's Street. Totheir surprise,
the constables found him asleep in bed, with no sign of horse
or pistols. It was only years later, long after his death, that a
well was discovered on the site of hs former yard. Atthe bottom
of the wel was a pair of pistols and the skeleton of a horse!

The Physician

Physicians are another group of
represented by memorial tablets, and they seem to have lived
by far the longest lives. John Beaumont was a ‘leamed
Professor of Medicine' who died in 1696 at the age of 80 ot
abad age in those days. Another doctor, Henry Fleming, did
even better. He died in 1774 at the age of 85. What was his.
secret? In healing infirmities and prolonging the lives of others,
the inscription el us, he probably added many years to his.
own.

cople who are well

The Sailor

There are few more compelling stories of reachery and bravery.
in equal measure than that of the mutiny on the ‘Bounty” in
1789, Lioutenant Hallett lived through it all. A midshipman at
the time, he was only 15 when the Bounty’ set sail. He was
loyal to Captain Bligh and sided with him against the mutineers.
When set adrift in a rowing boat in the midde of the Pacific, it
was Halltt's navigation manual that enabled the Captain and
what remained of his crew to complete their extraordinary.
journey to safety. He was promoted to Lieutenant on his retum
and served on the ‘Pandora’, which set off in search of the
mutineers. He died in 174 at the age of 22.

The highwayman

The physician
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The King’s Chaplain
Royalist supporters had a hard time in Pariamentarian towns
like Bedford during the Civil War. Dr Giles Thome was Recor
of St Mary’s from 1630-1671. He was accused by the Puritans
il vices and unlawlul recreations” such as “Whitsun al

s and dancings” and also of preaching ag
aying for the King. In 1642

whe as taken to the Fleet prison in London. After

din 1646. Nothing

four years in gaol, he was eventually relea:
s recorded of him until the Restoration in 1660, when he not
only returmed to his position as Rector at St Mary's - he
appointed Chaplain to Charles 11, Some say that the name of

the King's Arms, buit about that time nex! door 10 the church,

The Soldier

who died in the Indian Mutiny in the mid-18th century
the Bedfordshire men serving in the 17th Lancers must
under the huge banyan trees in the British graveyard at
Secunderabad n India. Fever and sunstroke, as

bullets, were major causes of death.

The People of the Parish

early 18th-century entries in the Paris
Registers, however, give us some idea of the
sheer diversity of people n the congregation.
Amongst all the usual trades (tanner

butchers, bakers, shoemakers, excis

ers, hemp dr e mak

holders, shepherds, wool dre currie

clerks, coal merch

smiths, glaziers, and

s0 on) are some more unusual ones. Thes

include an orange seller, a cavalry offcer from
the King’s Own Light Horse and a Hanoveria

This plag
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Monument Styles

St Mary's was an important church in the post-
medieval period, senving  prosperous community.
This s reflected in the wealth of monuments from this
period. Often ignored, memorial tablets can be
fascinating to study in their own right. Just like hats
or shoes, they have been subject to changes in
fashion over time. These fashions have been given
names like Baroque, Rococo or Greek Revival
Examples of al of these styles are to be found in the
church.

Baroque
The Barogue style is well represented by this 17th
century tabletn the Sacisty. Its typical inthe sense
that the hard marble siab is carved n the form of a
lowing coth sheet,on which the elaborate inscrption
is witten. Mary Lysons fived in Cavldwell House,
formerly Cauldwell Priry. She died in 1682 at the
age of 21,

Neo-Classical

This monument - a fine example of the Neo-classical
or Grosk Revival style popularin the early 19th century
was inspired by Greek relief carving, especially
following the arrival of the Elgin Marbles in England.
White marble was the favoured material. The
symbolism of the carvings tels us that Major Wiliam
Mills, who died at the age of 47, must have met his
death in action in some foreign field far from home.

A medioval
‘preoccupation with the
macabre lasted well
into the 17th centur
as shown by the
gruesome skull and
crossbones on the
memorial to Bridget
Barbour
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WINDOWS
INTO

AN AGE OF
PROSPERITY

Top to bottom:
the west window;

the Virgin Mary window
detail of the west window

14

Many a passe
with the light shining out rom inside, has bee
beauty of the west window. It is overshadowed in
splendour by the window on the easter side, though this is less.
often seen. The favourite of many, however, is the tiny window
depicting the Virgin Mary on the south sido of the chancel

y. coming past the church on a winter's evening,

uck by the sheer

None of the windows are ancient, though some of the stone tracery
may date from the late medieval period. Gifts from wealthy local
families, the windows come from an age of Victorian prosperity
when the river was the lifeblood of the town.

The West Window

The west window, made by Clayton and Boll, was a git of the
Nash family, who ran the brewery on the present site of St Mary's
Gardens and Bodford College. The br d its own what,
using the river for transport of material as the water o
make the beer itsel. In exchange for their generosity, the Nash
family were given their own space for burial just outside the east
wall of the chancel
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The East Window

The east window was donated by another
prominent local family whose wealth flowed from
the river. The Green family owned a wharf and
coal-yard just o the east of the Town Bridge. Their
business started small but graw into a major
distribution centre for industrial materials brought
in from the north. Behind the coal-yard on Duck
Mill Lane was a taver called the Buoy and Oar,
much frequented by boatmen. Whilo the Greens.
lived in St Mary’s Street, many of the other rich
merchants fived n fine houses on Polter Street - at
that time perhaps the most desirable place of
residence in Bodiord. Several memorial tablets to
the Greens can be seen in the sacristy, which they.
used as a mortuary chapel

{| Top lett: the east

‘window
Top right: the southem
part of Bedford from a
map of 1841

Bolow left: Groen's
wharf and coal-yard
with Nash's brewery in
the background

15
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WITHIN THE
CHURCHYARD
WALLS

The east end of St Mary's churchyard in spring

The churchyard is one of the oldest spaces in Bedford, and
probably one of the most crowded. If there were on average
aboutten burials a year, there would be about 10,000 people
buried here. Many of the older gravestones have sunk into
the ground. Such is the weight of a large slab that it tends to
sink by up to half a centimetre a year, 5o that after several
hundred years it may disappear below ground completely.
Othor stones were ro-used as pew bases. A gravestone survey
carried out in 1977 showed that nearly allof the gravestones
‘and monuments visible today are 19th contury, with  fow 18th-
century examples.

Above and left: details
from gravestones
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Some of the earliest entries in the Parish
Registers record the burial of nuns from Eistow
Abbey in the 1540s and 1550s. They moved
into the Potter Street district when the Abbey
was dissolved by Henry VIll. One of them was
Eiizabeth Boyvil, the last Abbess. She was
buried here in 1550.

Fragments of 13th-century gravestones or
coffn lids, with carved designs, can be soen
builtinto the southern outer wallof the chancel
at about eye level. These may be part of the
blocking of an old priest's door, of which little
other trace remains.

The churchyard today is a haven for widife in
a busy part of town. It has its own resident
squirrels. Blackbirds, thrushes, sparrows,
wrens, finches, robins, nuthatches and blue tts
are commonly seen here, along with the
occasional woodpecker. Trees inciuda yows,
imes, hollies, box, lac and maples.

Top to bottom: fragments of coftin ids built
into the church wall

The grave of Mary Bloomfield, wite of local
poet Robert Bloomfield.

Studying gravestones s a good way for
chidron o leam about the past

Benedictine nuns from
Elstow Abboy

Above: details from
gravestones
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THE CHURCH TOD;

ST MARY’'S ARCHAEOLOGY CENTRE

A New Use for St Mary’s

The last service at St Mary's was held in 1975 and
the church became redundant for the next 15 yoars.
The question of what was to be done with the historic
builing bocame an important issue. Demolion was
considored. Wholesale romoval of the church to a
new sita in north Brickhill, where it would be
reconstructed stone by stone, was one of the
suggestions put foward! Fortunately, the Grade |
fisting of the buiding ensurod it went {0 the care of
the Redundant Churches Fund. Repairs wero carried
out, and eventuall a new use was found

The Bediordshiro County Archaeology Service,
founded in 1972, had outgrown s old base n Castle
Lane and was looking for now headquarters. Making
use of the church made sense in two ways. 1t not
only provided the space noeded for the successful
running of a busy archasologicaluni t lso ensured
the survival of one of Bedfordshire's finest
archagological treasures ~ the church buiiing fsel.

Top: Open Day at St. Mary's
Above: washing finds in the lab
Left: at work in the office
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Left: recording a section at Marsh Leys Farm near
Kempston, Beds.

Bolow: Albion Archaeology publications; an
archaeologist gives schoolchilren a ‘hands on’
experionco

Albion Archaeology

The new Archaeology Centre was opened by Lord Montagu of
Boaulieu in 1991

Over the years, important excavations have been carried out in the
county: the deserted medieval vllage of Stratton, near Biggleswade;
the prehistoric farmsteads of the Biddenham Ioop; the Romano-British
and Saxon settlements of Oakley Road n Clapham; the small Roman
town of Sandy, and many other sites of al periods. The service has
gone from strength to strength, extending its area of operation into
the wider region. In the year 2000 its name was changed to Albion
Archasology o reflect this expansion.

As well as providing a professional service to developers and
architects, staff at Albion are committed 1o informing the focal
‘community about the archaeology of the arca. A smal exhibition is

Examinng | onpermanont splay inthe westond f St Marys Church. Wealso  Compulers are essentl
e sarcis SO eSS e R
e rsasipa’ e 0pen days o . couse, gve taka o g and vt ARSI,
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A graveyard survey was carried outin 1977. This shows positions of all
surviving graves and their inscriptions, whero legible. Copies are kept
by Albion Archasology and the Bedfordshire and Luton Archive and
Record Service (BLARS).

“The 11 volumes of parish registers dating from 1539-1812 are now looked
after by BLARS, who provide a useful transcription (see Bedfordshire
Parish Registers 1947, XXXV). Later volumes are also kept there.

In the same record office are parish scrapbooks put fogether by the
churchwarden, Mr D. Bungay, from 1935 0 1945. These provide a vivid
picture of church and parish lie throughout the war years.
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Contact Information

Atbion Archaeology
St Mary’s Church

St Mary’s Street

Bedford, MK42 0AS

Tel: 01234 294000

Fax: 01234 294008

e-mail: office @albion-arch.com
Website: www.albion-arch.com

There is a small exhibition depicting recent archaeological work, at the
west end of the church.
times are 10-12am and 2-4pm, Monday  Friday.

Cover pictures:
Front: the Virgin Mary
window, south wall of

chancel
Back: the blocked S:
and Norman
medieval wall painting
ast wallof south transept
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INTRODUCTION

St Mary’s Church is one of the oldest and most beautful buidings in
Bedford. Situated on an ancient crossroads, ts tower has been a major
andmark to travellers for a least a thousand years. There was a church
on the st before Bediord Castie was buit _before even the Norman
‘Conquestin 1066. Some people think that it was founded by King Alfred's
son, Edward the Elder, at a time when Bedford was a key stronghold in
the wars against the Vikings. For about ffty generations of Bedford's
townsfolk it was the centre of communit ife, and many of the town's
inhabitants were baplised, married or buried here. Today itis no longer
a parish church, but serves instead as the hoadquarters of Albion
Archaeology ~ one of the leading archaeology units i the country.
The stones may not be able to reveal al their secrets, but they can give
us important clues about the history of the building and the characters
‘associated with it. This bookiet puts fogether some of the fragments
from the past to tellthe story of St Mary's Church.
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Our First Glimpse

John Speed’s map of 1610 is the first map of
Bedlord that survives, giving us some idea of
whatit must have looked lik in medieva times
It shows the King's Ditch, by this time nearly
seven hundred years old, st serving as the
boundary ofthe southern partoftown. StMary's
Church s stll there 100, and the area round
about tis thrving. Notice especially the area
justto the west of the church, on the other side
of the main road. This s St Mary's Square,
where markets and fairs were held. It had a
market house and cross, as well as a
blacksmith's forge. Round the back of the
church is Bedesman's Lane. The bedesmen
‘were supported by money leftin il their duty
was 10 pray for the souls of their benefactors
‘They may have lived in a bede-house' here.

A Medieval Skyscraper

At one time St Mary's Church was a major
landmark _prominently visible from the other
side of the bridge and from the countryside
round about. Nowadays it is dwarfed by the
nearby Moat House Hotel and Telephone
House, but to early Bedfordians the tower must
have seamed o reach o the skies. Four stages
high, it would have soared above the
surrounding houses. It was probably used as a
‘watchtower, and at night lanterns placed high
up near the upper windows may have helped fo
quide travellers into the town.

Upper left: John Speed'’s map of Bedford.

Lower left: ‘St Mary’s Church, looking south
across Bedford Bridge with the Swan Inn in
the foreground’ by an unknown artist
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The former sign of the
King's Arms, one of the
oldest inns in Bedford

“This earty 19th-century print shows the weekly
pig market that was held in the yard of the oid
Fountain Inn on the other side of Potter Stroet
10 the south of the church. The presence of
inns around the church is a good indicator of
the commercial vitality of the area. Many
market transactions were sealed over a pint of
ale. The King's Amms on the north side of the
church was a major coaching inn in post
medieval times. Its yard too, would have been
teeming with life and noise the clatter of
horses’ hooves, the cianking of coaches and
carts, the chatter of ostlers and servants and
ravellers, mingling with the sound of church
bells

Along the river bank not far away were busy
wharves, warehouses and coal-yards. Barges
from Kings Lynn brought coal and pig ifon from
the north, 10 be loaded up with agricultural
produce for the return journey. Even the
churchyard wall tsolf was used for business.
Corporation Records contain orders for
regulating the sale of fish on St Mary's
churchyard wal,

On the south-west side of the crossroads was
the dreaded House of Correction, known as the
Brideswell. Holding beggars, poachers and
other minor offenders, it had a total offive human
treadmills to keep the male occupants busy,
while women worked a laundry. It losed in 1801
when the County Gaol was buil in Bromham
Road. Incidentally, the name ‘Brideswelr might
indicato the former site of a holy well or spring
that may once have attracted pilgrims o the
church.

“The pig market i the yard of the Fountain
Inn, Bedford' by Willam Pine








